1982

Mini Spas, Inc. et al v. State of Utah et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This action for declaratory judgment was brought in the Third District Court of Salt Lake County by Mini Spas, Inc., a Utah Corporation operating a massage establishment; and a group of masseurs. Plaintiffs sought declaratory judgment on two causes of action. First, that the Massage Practice Act of 1981 be construed by the Court to permit the Division of Registration to create the Utah Board of Massage. Second, that a Writ of Mandamus be issued to compel the Division of Registration to create such a Board.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

There being no material facts in dispute, Plaintiffs and Defendants moved for Summary Judgment, which was granted to Defendants on both causes.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a judgment by the Court construing the Massage Practice Act of 1981 to eliminate the internal inconsistency by allowing licensing of Massage Technicians who have engaged in the practice of massage in the State of Utah for five (5) years before July 1, 1981 and who meet all the age and moral requirements specified in the act. Further, Appellant seeks a Writ of Mandamus requiring the Utah State Division of Registration to organize a Board of Massage and allow the Board to carry out its functions as specified in U.C.A. 58-47-1 et seq.

Alternatively Appellant seeks a remand of this case to the lower court for determination of the Utah State Legislature's intent and purpose in passing the Massage Practice Act of 1981.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Massage Practice Act of 1981 was enacted by the Utah Legislature in February of 1981. The purpose of the Act, according to this title, is as follows: "An Act relating to massage practice; providing for a Board of Massage; providing for licensure; and the setting, implementation and enforcement of standards for massage technicians and massage

establishments; and providing for an effective date."

However, there was an oversight in the drafting of the Act which has prevented its implementation. The problem is simply that the Board of Massage is to consist of one layman and four licensed massage technicians (see §58-47-3 U.C.A.). The Board of Massage must supervise and direct the administration of oral and written examinations which all applicants must pass before becoming licensed massage technicians. Therefore, no one can become a licensed massage technician in Utah until passing the examinations administered by the Board of Massage; but the Board of Massage cannot be constituted unless four licensed massage technicians can be found to sit on the Board. At the present time there are no massage technicians licensed by the State of Utah; and this statute has not been implemented by the Division of Registration of the Department of Business regulation although the date of implementation, July 1, 1981 has passed.

The City of South Salt Lake is currently attempting to regulate massage practice in spite of the fact that the State Legislature has passed comprehensive legislation providing for the state regulation of that practice. The ordinance passed by the city in its attempt to regulate massage practice poses the real and serious threat to the appellants of actually regulating their chosen line of work out of existence. Once the Massage Practice Act is effectuated the South Salt Lake City ordinances regulating massage practice in conflict with the state scheme will be inapplicable.

Plaintiff brought suit for declaratory judgment in the Third District Court of Salt Lake County seeking to construe the state statute in such a manner as to allow its implementation. Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment was denied and the District Court held that the statute, §58-47-1 U.C.A., et seq., was not overly broad, vague, or null and void, that the Court could not make changes in the wording of the statute, since it is a matter of Legislative Jurisdiction, no Writ of Mandamus could issue.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IN PASSING THE MASSAGE PRACTICE ACT OF 1981 THE UTAH LEGISLATURE'S INTENT WAS TO PASS A VALID LAW PROVIDING FOR THE CREATION OF A BOARD OF MASSAGE.

Various profession, trades and occupations in Utah are regulated under title 58 of the Utah Code Annotated. §58-1-1(a) provides: There shall be a division of the State Government within the Department of Business Regulation known as the "Division of Registration," which shall be charged with administering the laws regulation professions, trades and occupations as in this title provided. §5 of the same chapter provides:

The functions of the Division of Registration shall be exercised . . . with the collaboration and assistance of representative committees, whether termed committees or boards, of the several professions, trades and occupations regulated under this title.

§6 (1) provides that the Director of Registration shall designate the numbers of the representative committees referred to in §58-1-5.

Chapter 47 of this title, the Massage Practice Act, outlining the requirements for the creation of a Board of Massage calls for the creation of such a board according to standard requirements established in §58-1-6 U.C.A. for professions, trades and occupations under the Registration Division. One of the standard requirements is that four (4) of the five (5) board members be licensed practitioners in good standing of the profession. However, it is apparent that the legislature was either ignorant of, or neglected to make allowance for the fact, that there are no licensed practitioners in good standing in the occupational category of massage technician; because it did not change the requirements for the appointment of the original Board of Massage to allow for that fact. This oversight has resulted in the impossibility of implementing the law as it is literally written. This problem was stated as follows in a letter dated May 28, 1981 from Counsel for Appellees to Counsel for Appellants:

The problem that we are facing in trying to create the Board as directed in the statute is as follows:

Up to this time there has been no licensed masseurs under this Act or any other state act in the State of Utah. (30) [now section 58-1-5 U.C.A.] calls for the establishing the Board with 'licensed' massage technicians. Nowhere in the Act has anyone been 'grandfathered' in, and before anyone can be appointed, including those that have been in practice for more than five years, they must be examined. The exam is to be given by and under the direction of the Board. We do not see how we can appoint a

Board of Licensed Massage Technicians when there are no licensed technicians to draw from.

There have been other boards created for the purpose of establishing the Board, certain individuals have been given special status. That was not done here, nor is there any provision in the act where a board can be impaneled to give the examination to licensed individuals.

It is not to be assumed that the legislature makes the practice of participating in exercises of futility by intentionally passing invalid or impossible laws. On the contrary, our form of government requires us to recognize the fact that when the legislature passes a law, that it has a purpose and intends that law to be valid.

The courts are obligated to make that presumption when dealing with statutory law. This court held in Millett v Clark Clinic Corp., 609 P.2d 934 (Utah 1980):

It is to be observed, moreover, that statutory enactments are to be so construed as to render all parts thereof relevant and meaningful, and that interpretations are to be avoided which render some part of a provision nonsensical or absurd. 609 P.2d at 936.

In the case of Salt Lake City v Salt Lake County, 568 P.2d 741 (Utah 1977) this court held that rules of construction were to be used only as aids in determining legislative intent and were not to get in the way of putting that intent into effect, as evidenced by the act as a whole, and wrote:

An even more fundamental rule of statutory interpretation helpful here is that the statute should be looked at in its entirety and in accordance with the purpose which was sought to be accomplished. 568 P.2d at 741.

This same holding was made in the case of Osuala v Aetna Life & Casualty, 608 P.2d 242 (Utah 1980), where the Court observed:

If there is doubt or uncertainty as to the meaning or application of an act, it is appropriate to analyze the act in its entirety, in the light of its objective, and to harmonize its provisions in accordance with the legislative intent and purpose. 608 P.2d at 243.

Also, in Robert H. Hinckley Inc. v State Tax Commission,

404 P.2d 662 (Utah 1965), in construing the legislative act calling for collection of sales taxes, the Court allowed a vendor who did business in an unusual manner to use an alternative system to the "bracket method" mandated by the State Tax Commission, but which did not work for this particular business. In doing so, the Court stated,

We cannot ascribe to the legislature an intent to make it impossible for a vendor to conform with its requirements. 404 P.2d at 668.

Again in Curtis v Harmon Electronics, Inc., 575 P.2d 1044 (Utah 1978), this Court stated:

A sound rule of statutory interpretation is that a statute is presumed not to be intended to produce absurd consequences and that where possible it will be given a reasonable and sensible construction. This Court recognizes its duty to render such interpretation of the laws as will best promote the protection of the public. 575 P.2d at 1046.

Finally, this Court held in Greaves v State, 528 P.2d 805 (Utah 1974):

Because the duty rests upon the courts to determine the scope of the powers of all three branches of government, they have a special responsibility to exercise a high degree of caution and restraint to keep themselves within the limitations of the judicial power, in order not to infringe upon the prerogatives of the executive or the legislative branches. In harmony with that policy, it is the well-established rule that legislative enactments

are endowed with a strong presumption of validity, and that they should not be declared unconstitutional if there is any reasonable basis upon which they can be found to come within the constitutional framework; and that a statute will not be stricken down as being unconstitutional unless it appears to be so beyond a reasonable doubt. 528 P.2d at 806, 807.

It appears to be the contention of Appellees herein that this Court has the option of leaving this law intact as written; but admit that it now makes no sense, and so should be ignored until the legislature has corrected its error. Appellants have cited no authority for this strange suggestion, and it appears from the authorities researched by Appellants that the only alternative this Court may have is to declare the statute void for vagueness. This, of course, is a result which neither side seeks, and one which would be to the detriment of all parties.

The intention of the Utah State Legislature to pass a valid Massage Practice Act providing for a functioning Board of Massage is further borne out by an examination of the responsibilities given by the legislature to the Board. §58-47-8 U.C.A. provides:

Any person who . . . presents a diploma or credentials issued by a school of massage approved by the American Massage and Therapy Association or its successor or like institute, representing study as determined by the Board of up to 1,000 hours and who passes a reasonable demonstrative, oral, and written examination, conducted by and under the supervision and direction of the Board, in the art of massage by hand . . . shall be entitled to be licensed and to be issued a license as a massage technician.

Obviously, the Board of Massage is intended by the legislature to function as a viable unit with definite responsibilities and duties in regard to the licensing of massage technicians. Further, §58-47-10 gives the Board authority to enter into reciprocal license agreements with other states. §58-47-11 gives the Board the authority to administer examinations to candidates for apprentice massage technicians. After the successful completion of the examination specified by the Board, the candidates may be licensed as Apprentice Massage Technicians by the Department of Business Regulation. The Board has other responsibilities in the evaluation of physical or mental competence of practitioners (§58-47-12), discipline within the occupation (§58-47-20) and in formulating post-graduate requirements for practitioners (§58-47-15). The obvious intent of the legislature in passing the Massage Practice Act was to provide for the licensing and regulation of massage technicians and establishments through the Division of Registration and the Utah Board of Massage. It is equally obvious that in following the standards set in the General Provisions of Title 58, the legislature unintentionally created an impossible situation due to the fact that there were no massage technicians already licensed by the State of Utah at the time the Massage Practice Act was passed. The simple fact that the legislature could have made special provisions for the formation of the original

board, taking into account the fact that there were no licensed practitioners in Utah, but failed to do so, does not indicate an intent to create an impossible situation, but rather indicates a simple oversight. This oversight can be legitimately rectified by this Court, by "grand-fathering" in a certain category of massage practitioners as suggested by Appellants.

Should this Court decide that the legislative intent is not adequately clear for a determination at this point, Appellant requests the remand of this case to a lower court for a determination of the legislative intent.

POINT II

THIS COURT SHOULD INTERPRET THE MASSAGE PRACTICE ACT OF 1981 IN HARMONY WITH THE INTENT OF THE LEGISLATURE, AND IN SO DOING RESOLVE THE CONTRADICTION BETWEEN TWO PROVISIONS OF THE ACT.

Appellants do not maintain that all laws passed by the legislature are valid simply because the legislature intended them to be valid, but the courts must give the laws the presumption of validity.

This Court stated in Norville v State Tax Commission, 97 P.2d 937 (Utah 1940):

Statutes duly enacted by the legislature are presumed to be constitutional and valid (citations omitted). When there is ambiguity in the terms of a statute or when it is susceptible of two interpretations one of which would render it unconstitutional and the other bring it within the constitutional sanctions, the Court is bound to choose that

interpretation which would uphold the statute, and to pronounce a statute unconstitutional only when the case is so clear as to be free from doubt (citations omitted). 97 P.2d at 939.

The Court then went on to deal with problems in statutory language as follows:

As stated in Sutherland on Statutory Construction, §271, at page 320: 'In the exposition of a statute the intention of the law-maker will prevail over the literal sense of the terms; and its reason and intention will prevail over the strict letter.' 97 P.2d at 939.

Quoting from Endlich on the Interpretation of Statutes, §319, the Court stated:

A mistake apparent on the face of an act, which may be corrected by other language of the act, is never fatal. In all such cases it may, with propriety, be said that the context rectifies the error, and it is not the Court that assumes to correct the legislature...The Judicial Interpreter may deal with careless and inaccurate words and phrases in the same spirit as a critic deals with an obscure or corrupt text, when satisfied, on solid grounds, from the context or history of the enactment, or from the injustice, inconvenience, or absurdity of the consequences to which it would lead, then the language thus treated does not really express the intention and that this amendment probably does. 97 P.2d at 941.

Thus we see, that the Courts have the power to determine ambiguities in statutes, and to change words or phrases in statutes when that is needed in order to avoid an absurdity. The Supreme Court of the State of Oregon, in commenting on when such an ambiguity exists and when the Court should exercise its power to change language to effectuate a statute,

stated as follows, in the case of State v Rawson, 312 P.2d 849 (Or. 1957):

The Courts hold that even if an act is expressed in clear language, a conclusion may be warranted that an ambiguity exists if literal interpretation will produce an absurd result or one at variance with the policy of the legislature as a whole (citations omitted).

From Am Jur. we quote with approval: 'An ambiguity, justifying the interpretation of a statute, is not simply that arising from the meaning of particular words, but includes such as may arise in respect to the general scope and meaning of a statute when all its provisions are examined. The Courts regard an ambiguity to exist where the legislature has enacted two or more provisions or statutes which appear to be inconsistent. There is also authority for the rule that uncertainty as to the meaning of the statute may arise from the fact that giving a literal interpretation to the words would lead to such unreasonable, unjust, impractical, or absurd consequences as to compel a conviction that they could not have been intended by the legislature.' 312 P.2d at 856.

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the meaning of the legislature and give it effect, if such meaning is constitutional. In determining the intent many things are taken into consideration: language, the object to be accomplished, whether a literal interpretation of the language will lead to an impossibility or an absurdity, the history behind the act, and numerous other matters, no one of which is absolutely controlling as the legislative intent. It is from a combination of all these that the intent is deduced.... 312 P.2d at 857.

This decision was followed by the Court of Appeals of Oregon in Baird v Electro Mart Factory Direct, Inc., 47 Or. App. 565, 615 P.2d 335 (Or. Ct. App. 1980) where the Court stated:

Because that legislative intent is manifest we must give effect to that intention even though to do so does violation to the literal meaning of its words (citation omitted). 615 P.2d at 338.

Only if this Court cannot find a reasonable and rational means of construing this statute and making it a valid law which can be implemented by the administrative body responsible for its execution, should it be declared invalid. This Court stated in a 1978 case that:

A sound rule of statutory interpretation is that a statute is presumed not to be intended to produce absurd consequences and that where possible it will be given a reasonable and sensible construction. This Court recognizes its duty to render such interpretation of the laws as will best promote the protection of the public. Curtis v Harmon Electronics, Inc. 575 P.2d 1044 (Utah 1978)

To successfully give a reasonable and sensible construction to a statute the Courts are occasionally required to modify to some degree the language found in the statutes. This Court would have to make a simple change in the Massage Practice Act of 1981 to eliminate the impossible situation dictated by the literal reading of the words of the act. The change sought by Appellants is to strike out the words requiring massage practitioners who meet the moral and age requirements of the act and who have engaged in the practice of massage in the State of Utah for five years before July 1, 1981, or who meet the education requirements, to pass the oral and written examinations specified in §58-47-8 U.C.A. This simple change would "grandfather" in a reasonably small group of massage

practitioners under the act. Such a resolution of this problem by this Court would be in harmony with the legislative intent as well as generally accepted and appropriate judicial interpretation of statutory law.

In giving effect to the intent of the legislature, the Courts may occasionally find it necessary to alter in some way the wording of some provision(s) of an act. Such is the predicament here. This has lead the Appellees to conjure up the constitutional principle of separation of powers which was summed up very succinctly by this Court in Young v Salt Lake City, 67 P. 1066 (1902).

It is ture that under the constitution, powers belonging to one department of government cannot be exercised by others. Courts cannot legislate or make laws.

In further support of this principle, the Appellees cite in their Memorandum in Support of Their Motion for Summary Judgment, the case of Kimball v City of Grantsville, 57 P. 1 (1899).

Independently of any repugnance between a legislative act, and any constitutional limitation or restriction, a court has no power to arrest its execution, however unwise or unjust, in the opinion of the court, it may be or whatever motives may have lead to its enactment.

Accepting this as sound doctrine, as we safely may, would not the judicial department itself be guilty of transcending its constitutional power were it to inquire into the expediency, wisdom, or justice of the legislation in question in this case?

This, in itself, would be an abuse, because it would be an usurpation of power by one department of the government which the people absolutely vested in another.

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