1982

# Mini Spas, Inc. et al v. State of Utah et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

THE LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE IS CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS. THERE IS NO NEED TO RESORT TO THE PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.

It has long been the established policy of this court to refrain from the use of statutory construction when the language used in a disputed statute is clear and unambiguous. This principle was emphasized in the case of State v. Archuletta, 526 P.2d 911 (Utah, 1974), where the court stated:

"The intention of the legislature is to be collected from the words they employ. Where there is no ambiguity in the words, there is no room for construction." [citing United States v. Wiltberger, 5 Wheat 76, 95, 5 L. Ed. 37 (1920) (at 912)]

There is no ambiguity in the words of the sections of the Act which created the Board. The meaning of the statute is clear, precise and subject to only one interpretation. Section 58-47-3, U.C.A. (1981 Supp.) indicates that the Board is to be established pursuant to guidelines found in Section 58-1-6, U.C.A. (1981 Supp.). Therefore, the Board should have five members, four licensed massage technicians and one member of the general public. Section 58-47-8, U.C.A., (1981 Supp.) indicates that in order to become a licensed massage technician, one must be examined. The exam is to be given by and under the direction of the Board. Because there are no licensed massage technicians, the Board cannot be created. There is no ambiguity in the Act. The result is clear and precise. Absent licensed technicians, the Divi-

sion cannot empanel the Board. The examination is not waived for anyone. Only the educational requirements are waived for those individuals who have been practicing for five years or longer. The statute requires the examination to be administered by the Board. Since no Board of Licensed Masseurs can be established, the legislature must modify the language to so allow a Board to be established to oversee licensing matters before any licenses can be issued.

Appellants present an excellent discussion of the power of the courts to amend, add or omit words to the language of ambiguous statutes. Relying heavily on cases from other jurisdictions, it is contended that if the Act is strictly followed, it will lead to an absurd result or one at variance with the intent of the legislature as a whole. It is the result which Appellants maintain creates the ambiguity in the statute. Unusual results, as here, are not per se - ambiguous. And as here, there is no ambiguity. Clear language creates a result that is hard to comprehend. If that is not what the Utah Legislature intended, then that body should make the necessary changes to obtain the correct result.

However, the cases cited by the Appellants are easily distinguished from the facts of the case now before the court. In each case, the courts were faced with ambiguities which existed in the language of the statutes themselves. Rather than distinguish each case cited by Appellants, one

case will illustrate the differences which exist between the case now before this Court and those cases cited by Appellants. In State v. Rawson, 312 P.2d 849 (Or. 1957) the Oregon Supreme Court was faced with determining which state agency controlled the mineral rights to land upon which volcanic ash was to be harvested. Identifying the issue of the case the court stated:

"The whole case depends upon whether the statute authorizing a lease by the land board applies to the property in question."

The Court continued, saying:

"It is apparent that the same land cannot be at the same time subject to the complete or exclusive control of two separate state agencies, nor can the funds expended and proceeds received come from or be placed in two mutually exclusive funds."

The issue in Rawson is completely different from the issue now before the court. There is no question as to whom the Act applies. There are no sections of the Act which are in conflict with each other. Masseurs can only be licensed by one board. No statute gives any other agency, commission or board the authority vested in the Board. Not only are the words clear and unambiguous, but the application of the Act is free from contradiction. Absent such ambiguity there is no room for construction. Every jurisdiction cited by Appellants embraces this doctrine. The Oregon Court in Monaco v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 550 P. 2d 422 (Or. 1976) stated:

"Whatever the legislative history of an act may indicate, it is for the legislature to translate its intent into operational language. This

court cannot correct clear and unambiguous language for the legislature so as to better serve what the court feels was or should have been the legislature's intent." [citing Lane County v. Hewtz Construction Co. et al, 228 Or. 152, 364 P. 2d 627 (1961); emphasis added]

The Supreme Court of North Dakota, in the case of Rausch v. Nelson, 134 N.W. 2d 519, 525 (ND. 1965) indicated that:

"Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, the court can not indulge in speculation as to probable or possible qualifications which might have been in the mind of the legislature, but the statute must be given effect according to its plain and obvious meaning, and cannot be extended beyond it." [citing 59 C.J. pp. 955-957; City of Dickinson v. Thress, 69 N.D. 748, 290 N.W. 653 at 652]

It is contended by the Appellants that because it is impossible to set up the Board, following a strict interpretation of the statutes, an absurd result occurs and hence, there is ambiguity. However, it does not follow that impossibility or implementation of the Act is an absurd result. In the case of Hernandez v. Frothmiller, 204 P.2d 854, 68 Ariz 242 (1949), the Arizona Supreme Court said:

"We recognize the rule that, when giving the literal meaning to language of a statute results in an absurdity or impossibility, courts will under some circumstances alter, modify, or supply words in order to give effect to the plain intention of the lawmaker. This does not mean that when language has a plain meaning to which effect cannot legally be given, the court will try to guess what the lawmakers intended." (emphasis added).

It is further suggested by Appellants, that the failure to include a "grandfather" clause in the Act was merely an



oversight; that the intention of the legislature was to create a Board from the masseurs already practicing in the state. By asking this Court to superimpose its own section in the Act, grandfathering in members of the Board, Appellants are asking the Court to second-guess the legislature. In the case of Automobile Drivers and Demonstrators Union Local v. Department of Retirement Systems, 529 P.2d 379, 92 Wash. 2d 415, appeal dismissed, certiorari denied 100 S.Ct. 724, (1978), the Washington Supreme Court stated:

"This court cannot read into a statute that which it may believe the legislature has omitted, be it an intentional or inadvertent omission".

Is it not equally probable that the Legislature was aware of its actions and intentionally failed to include a "grandfather" clause. Again, it is not the duty of this court to second-guess the Legislature.

In the case of Department of Labor and Industries v. Cook, 269 P.2d 962 (WA 1954) the Washington Supreme Court was faced with the problem of deciding whether or not it had the authority to alter a statute which when given a strict interpretation caused an illogical result. There was no ambiguity in the words of the statute. The statute in question allowed the Department a right to defend in superior courts those board decisions which were favorable to the Department, but denied the right to court action upon an adverse decision. Speaking of the lack of logic in this situation, the Court

stated:

"But, whether the seeming lack of logic in this situation is the product of inadvertence or intention, the fact remains that the act lacks such a provision. The court cannot read into a statute anything which it may conceive that the legislature has unintentionally left out."

It may be true that the failure to provide means to establish an initial Board is an illogical result. But, the logic of the statute is not the question before the Court. The Act and the sections within the Act which provide the guidelines for the creation of the Board are clear. There is but one interpretation that can be applied. The Division and the District Court have determined that the Board cannot be created. Absent ambiguity in the statute, this Court must follow suit. The problem presented by this case is best left to those who created it, the Legislature.

## II

THE COURTS DO NOT HAVE AUTHORITY TO AND  
SHOULD NOT LEGISLATE A CHANGE TO RECTIFY  
THE PROBLEMS FOUND WITHIN THE ACT.

As has been suggested, Appellants are urging this Court to create a "grandfather clause" to the Act by allowing certain individuals to be licensed without exam. In support of his position, counsel cited several cases which he declared support such action. However, as explained in Argument I, nowhere does Appellant cite authority to support the idea of modifying a clear and unambiguous statute. By

asking this Court to modify the Act, Appellants are asking the Court to cross the barriers of separation of powers and legislate a change in the Act. Such action is clearly beyond the powers granted the Court.

Article V, Section 1 of the Utah Constitution states:

The powers of the government of the State of Utah shall be divided into three distinct departments, the Legislative, the Executive, and the Judicial; and no person charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments, shall exercise any functions appertaining to either of the others, except in the cases herein expressly directed or permitted. (Emphasis added.)

The Utah Supreme Court, beginning with cases around the turn of the century have been quite consistent that it is not the position of the courts to legislate. The Court in Young v. Salt Lake City, 67 P. 1066 (Utah 1902) held:

The appellant contends that the statute under which this proceeding was taken is unconstitutional and void, and that it attempts to delegate power to the district court and commissioners to legislate, and that the power given is a legislative power, and that the court cannot be invested with it by the legislature, under the constitution. It is true that, under the constitution, powers belonging to one department of government cannot be exercised by others. Courts cannot legislate or make laws. (Emphasis added.)

Earlier, the court held in Kimball v. City of Grantsville, 57 P. 1 (Utah 1899):

Independently of any repugnance between a legislative act, and any constitutional limitation or restriction, a court has no power to arrest its execution, however unwise or unjust, in the opinion of the court, it may be, or whatever motives may have led to its enactment.



. . . .

Accepting this as sound doctrine, as we safely may, would not the judicial department itself be guilty of transcending its constitutional power were it to inquire into the expediency, wisdom, or justice of the legislation in question in this case? This, in itself, would be an abuse, because it would be a usurpation of power by one department of the government which the people absolutely vested in another.

Appellants suggest that the principle of "separation of powers" is not the issue in this case. It is suggested that creating exceptions to the Act would merely be an extension of the Court's proper function, (i.e., interpreting the statutory law promulgated by the other branch of government.) Again, Appellants fail to understand that they are asking the Court to do more than interpret the Act. Interpreting the Act leads one to the conclusion that the Board cannot be created. The Court interprets ambiguities found within statutes. Here, there are no ambiguities. How can the Court interpret the words of the statute as creating exceptions to the Act, which don't exist within the Act. The Courts have always embraced this principle. In Travelers Indemnity Company v. Kowalski, 43 Cal. Rptr. 843 (1965) the court stated:

"We recognize that the statute we are reviewing must be given a liberal interpretation. Nevertheless, . . . this "does not vitiate the elementary principle that the judicial function is simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained in the statute, not to insert what has been omitted, or omit what has been inserted." (emphasis added)

The Nebraska court stated in City of Grand Island v. County of Hall, 242 N.W. 2d 858, 196 Neb. 282 (1976) that:

"Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, no interpretation is needed and the court is without authority to change the language." [citing State v. Gallegos, 193 Neb. 651, 228 N.W. 2d 615. Emphasis added.]

In Pedroli v. Missouri Pacific Railroad, 524 S.W.2d 882 (Mo. 1975), the Supreme Court of Missouri, referring to when it is and is not appropriate for the courts to amend a statute stated:

"When the language of a statute is unambiguous and conveys a plain and definite meaning, the courts have no business to look for or to impose another meaning [De Poortere v. Commercial Credit Corporation, 500 S.W. 2d 724, 727 (Mo. App. 1973)]. If a statute is unambiguous, a court should regard it as meaning what it says since the legislature is presumed to have intended exactly what it states directly." (Emphasis added.)

Once the courts step beyond ascertaining and declaring what is in terms or in substance contained in the statute, it ceases its interpretation function and begins to usurp the power of the legislature. This Court, in Kimball, supra said: "In such case the legislature alone can afford a remedy. The judicial department cannot arrogate to itself power not within its province." Even as late as State v. Gallion, 572 P.2d 683 (Utah 1977) this Court was standing by that basic premise. With the problems within the Act itself, the Legislature has many options to solve them. The decision of which option to choose should be left to it.

In Anderson v. I. M. Jameson Corporation, et al, 59 P.2d

962, (CA 1936) the California Supreme Court explained that absent the ambiguity in the statute the courts must refrain from correcting the statute even if the consequence would be to defeat the object of the Act. The Court stated:

"It is probably safe to assume that the Legislature had in mind [a certain proviso] but the difficulty is that they have not expressed this intent in the language used. This court has no power to rewrite the Section so as to make it conform to a presumed intention which is not expressed. This court is limited to interpreting the Section, and such interpretation must be based on the language used. . . . 'It is a cardinal rule with the construction of Sections that the intent of the legislators should be followed, but this is subject to the imperative and paramount rule that the court cannot depart from the meaning of language which is free from ambiguity, although the consequence would be to defeat the object of the Act.'" [citing Seaboard Acceptance Corp. v. Shay, 214 Cal. 361, 5 P. 2d 882]

Even though the sustaining of the summary judgment order would result in continued delay in the formation of the Board, the Court is without authority to depart from the clear and unambiguous language of the statute. The Court cannot arrogate to itself power not within its province. Interpretation of the Act leads to only one conclusion. Implementation of the Act is not possible at the present time. Further legislative action is needed.

### III.

#### THE APPELLANTS' CONTINUED OPERATION AS A LEGITIMATE BUSINESS IS NOT IN JEOPARDY.

In their brief, Appellants maintain that the Act

pre-empts local regulation of the massage business. Reference is made to ordinances passed by Salt Lake County and South Salt Lake which Appellants contend unduly restrict their business practice. In both instances, the ordinances exempt from licensure those masseurs who are licensed by the state. If this Court amends the Act, Appellants will no longer be subject to restrictions which they feel jeopardize the continued operation of their business.

Appellants fail to realize that the exemption granted by the ordinances for those licensed by the state simply indicates the intention of the local governing bodies to regulate their business in the event that the state fails to do so. Furthermore, the Act does not pre-empt local regulation. It merely provides a system for state licensure and regulation. There is no provision in the Act which prohibits counties or cities from creating their own regulatory schemes relative to the operation of massage business within their respective jurisdictions. Licensing requirements along with procedures for handling disciplinary proceedings is not blanket authority to exclusive jurisdiction. Although, under the Act, all masseurs in the state must be licensed, nothing prohibits the introduction of ordinances which further define the legitimate practice of massage in a given jurisdiction. Several professions which are licensed by the State are likewise controlled by specific ordinances which govern the operations of the professions within a given jurisdiction.

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